
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GSP COMMISSION MEETING 

January 22, 2024 



AGENDA 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting 

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Commission Boardroom 
Monday, January 22, 2024 

9:00 a.m. 

*NOTE TO ALL PUBLIC ATTENDEES:

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located outside 
the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the Recording 
Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed prior to the 
Airport Commission’s discussion, and you will have 5 minutes to address the Airport 
Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

I. CALL TO ORDER:

II. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport November 13, 2023 Regular
Meeting Minutes (document)

III. PRESENTATIONS: None

III. OLD BUSINESS: None

IV. NEW BUSINESS:

A. Approval of Final Rankings for On-Call Topographical / Underground Utility 
Surveying Professional Consulting Services and On-Call Geotechnical /Quality 
Assurance Testing Professional Consulting Services (document)

B. Approval of a Project Budget for the Passenger Boarding Bridge Project 
(document)

C. Approval of Revised Program Budget and GMP (Guaranteed Maximum Price) 
for Parking Garage C & Consolidated Rental Car Facility (document)

D. Approval of Automated Shuttle Airport Project (document)

V. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:

A. Aviation Industry Update
B. Federal and State Legislative Update
C. Financial Dashboard Update



GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION AGENDA 
Monday, January 22, 2024 
Page 2 

VII. INFORMATION SECTION:

(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to address
any questions the Commission may have.)

A. November 2023 – Traffic Report (document)
B. November 2023 – Financial Report (document)
C. December 2023 – Development/Project Status Report (document)
D. December 2023 – Communications Status Report & Marketing Event

Summary (document)
E. December 2023 – Commercial Business Report (document)
F. December 2023 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document)
G. December 2023 – Information Technology Status Report (document)

VIII. COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

The Airport Commission may hold an Executive Session for the purpose of
receiving legal advice on various matters.

X. ADJOURNMENT

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a matter 
of convenience to the public. It is not the official agenda. Although every effort is made 
to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The Airport Commission 
does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for any purpose. The 
agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission meeting. 















 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Jeff Clifton, Director of Design & Construction 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item A 
 
Approval of Final Rankings for On-Call Topographical / Underground Utility Surveying 
Professional Consulting Services and On-Call Geotechnical / Quality Assurance Testing 
Professional Consulting Services. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District last selected On-Call Surveying and 
Geotechnical professional services consultants in 2018. The Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) strongly recommends airports conduct regular solicitations for 
general consulting services every 5 years. 
 
Staff prepared a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for On-Call Topographical / 
Underground Utility Surveying Professional Consulting Services and an RFQ for On-Call 
Geotechnical / Quality Assurance Testing Professional Consulting Services. The RFQ’s 
were advertised regionally and nationally through local media and various industry 
trade organizations and publications. Six (6) Submittals of Qualifications (SOQs) were 
received for On-Call Topographical / Underground Utility Surveying Professional 
Consulting Services and three (3) SOQ’s for On-Call Geotechnical / Quality Assurance 
Testing Professional Consulting Services, were delivered on November 8, 2023. date.     
 
Survey firms/teams submitting SOQs were (Prime firms listed below alphabetically): 
 

Bateman Civil Survey Company 
CES Group Engineers, LLP (CES) 
DRMP NC, Inc. 
Johnson, Mirmiran & Thompson, Inc (JMT) 
McKim & Creed  
Stewart Inc. 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services  
Page 2 

  

Geotechnical firms/teams submitting SOQs were (Prime firms listed below 
alphabetically): 
 

ECS Southeast, LLP 
S&ME, Inc.  
Terracon Consultants, Inc. 

  
The Selection Committee reviewed the Topographical / Underground Utility Surveying 
SOQ’s and evaluated them in accordance with the evaluation criteria as outlined in the 
RFQ. Four (4) firms/teams were short-listed for the second phase of the selection 
process, which included presentations and interviews with the Selection Committee. 
 
Short-listed surveying firms/teams (Prime firms listed below alphabetically): 
 

CES 
JMT 
McKim & Creed 
Stewart 

 
Presentations and interviews were held with the short-listed firms/teams the weeks of 
December 4th and 11th, 2023.  The evaluation of presentations/interviews for the 
shortlisted firms/teams was based on the following categories:  
 

Past/current project experience 
Resumes of key personnel 
Project planning approach 
Ability to meet project goals 
Firm/team organizational structure 
Responsiveness to RFQ requirements 
Experience with GSP Airport District.  
 

At the conclusion of each presentation, the Committee conducted a questions and 
answers session with each team on project management and general consultancy 
issues to learn more about their firm/team and assist the Committee in determining the 
final rankings. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services  
Page 3 

  

ISSUES 
 
In accordance with administrative policy, Staff conducted the RFQ solicitation process 
and is making a recommendation of final rankings to the Commission. The Commission 
has final approval of the rankings.  
 
The Selection Committee’s recommended final ranking for On-Call Topographical / 
Underground Utility Surveying professional services is:  
  

1. CES 
2. JMT 
3. McKim & Creed 
4. Stewart 

 
The Selection Committee reviewed the Geotechnical SOQs and evaluated them in 
accordance with the evaluation criteria as outlined in the RFQ including: 
 

Past/current project experience 
Resumes of key personnel 
Project planning approach 
Ability to meet project goals 
Firm/team organizational structure 
Responsiveness to RFQ requirements 
Experience with GSP Airport District.  

 
The Selection Panel unanimously selected S&ME as the highest ranked firm/team and 
determined an interview/presentation was not necessary.   
 
The unanimous determination was driven by S&ME’s exceptional team, experience in 
geotechnical, quality assurance, and CEPSI support at like-sized airports, and 
demonstrated ability to deliver services within project parameters.  Additionally, S&ME 
has supported the District in geotechnical/quality assurance needs over the past five (5) 
years in which they have performed admirably. 
 
Upon approval of the final rankings, Staff will attempt to negotiate an agreement with 
CES and S&ME.  In the event an agreement cannot be reached with the highest ranked 
firms/teams, Staff will formally terminate the negotiations and proceed to negotiate 
with the next highest ranked firms/teams. 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Approval of the Final Rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services  
Page 4 

  

 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
No alternatives are recommended at this time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Approval of the final ranking itself does not have a direct fiscal impact. Once the On-Call 
Topographical/Underground Utility Surveying Consulting Firms and On-Call 
Geotechnical/Quality Assurance Consulting Firms are under contract, the selected On-
Calls will be providing professional services for future capital projects and consulting 
services as needed. All project expenses will be budgeted and funded from the 
appropriate capital project/program or applicable budget line item. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the final 
rankings for On-Call Professional Consulting Services as presented above; (2) authorize 
Staff to negotiate and finalize agreements with the highest ranked firms for 
Topographical/Underground Utility Survey and Geotechnical firms/teams (if an 
acceptable agreement cannot be reached with the highest ranked firms/teams, 
negotiations will be formally terminated and will then proceed with the next ranked 
firm/team); and (3) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item B 
 
Approval of a project budget for the Passenger Boarding Bridge Project. 
 
BACKGROUND 
  
The commercial terminal is currently served by nine passenger boarding bridges (PBBs) 
at Concourse A and four bridges at Concourse B. 11 of the existing PBBs were replaced 
with new Thyssen Krupp bridges in 2014. There are two aircraft parking positions that 
do not have contact boarding bridges. “A.5” is located between A1 and the airside 
garden and “B4.5” is located north of B4. Per District policy, unless there are 
extraordinary circumstances airlines are not allowed to board or deplane passengers 
to/from an aircraft without a boarding bridge. Airlines use the A.5 and B4.5 positions as 
hard-stand parking only. Per the 2021 Terminal Area Planning Study, adding passenger 
boarding bridges at these two locations is necessary to accommodate projected growth 
and will enable the airport to delay the planned expansion of the B concourse for a few 
more years.   
 
Based on current and projected growth, Staff feels is important to expedite this 
Passenger Boarding Bridge Project to support increased enplanements and potential 
new airlines.  The FY24 capital budget did not include funding for this project. Lead 
time for new boarding bridges is running approximately 24 weeks from time of order. 
Due to the long lead time, Staff would like to start this project as soon as practicable.  
 
ISSUES 
 
Project budget approval is required before the project can proceed.  
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item B 
Approval of the Passenger Boarding Bridge Project 
Page 2 

  

ALTERNATIVES 
 
While not recommended at this time, the Commission could elect to not proceed with 
the project at this time.  
  

FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The requested project budget is $5,300,000 and will be funded with PFC funds. 
Currently, the District has been approved to use $4,815,000 in PFC “pay-go” funding for 
the PBB project. Staff will apply for an amendment to the PFC approval to cover the full 
project cost. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the 
Passenger Boarding Bridge Gates Project with a construction budget of $5,300,000; and 
(2) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President / COO 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item C 
 
Approval of revised program budget and GMP (guaranteed maximum price) for Parking 
Garage C & Consolidated Rental Car Facility. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District originally planned to start construction of a 
third parking garage and a new consolidated rental car (CONRAC) facility in 2020.  
Design was completed in 2019 and contractor selection was initiated in early 2020. The 
project was suspended due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The Commission authorized Staff to proceed with the Parking Garage C and CONRAC 
Project in March 2023 and the final rankings for the Construction Manager (CM) were 
approved in July 2023. A CM contract was finalized with Brassfield & Gorrie (B&G) and 
they provided preconstruction services during the fall of 2023. B&G competitively bid 
the sub-contractor work for the project and submitted a guaranteed maximum price 
proposal (GMP) in December. 
 
A programmatic estimate of $109,500,000 was included in the FY24 capital budget with 
a projected FY24 spend of $26,250,000. 
 
ISSUES 
 
Staff and the project consultant team have reviewed B&G’s GMP proposal and 
associated program costs for the Parking Garage C & Consolidated Rental Car Facility.    
 
  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Parking Garage C & Consolidated Rental Car Facility  
Page 2 

  

A summary of program costs are as follows: 
 
 

Item Description Forecasted Cost 

Direct Cost of Construction and 
Construction Management Services 

$84M 

Project Soft Costs $4.5M 

GSP/Owner’s Management Reserve $8.5M 

  

Total $97,000,000 

 
 
Pending approval of the revised program budget and GMP, construction is planned to 
start in early February 2024. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
No alternatives are recommended at this time. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The Program was estimated in 2022-2023 at $109,500,000 with $26,250,000 in 
anticipated expenditures for FY24.  The Program is now forecasted at $97,000,000 with 
a forecast of approximately $15,000,000 in expenditures in FY24. Staff may look to 
finance up to 100% of the cost of the Parking Garage C and CONRAC Project. As 
approved at the November 13th GSP Commission Meeting, Customer Facility Charges 
increased to $9.00 per day on January 1, 2024 in anticipation of the financing of the 
Parking Garage C and CONRAC Project. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the 
revised Program budget of $97,000,000 for the Parking Garage C and Consolidated 
Rental Car Facility as presented; (2) authorize Staff to negotiate and finalize 
agreements with all firms; (3) authorize Staff to engage with all necessary consultants, 
advisors, and professional service firms to produce a final financing arrangement for the 
Parking Garage C and CONRAC project. The final financing arrangement will be subject 
to GSP Commission approval; and (4) authorize the President/CEO to execute all 
necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
___________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item D 
 
Approval of Automated Shuttle Airport Project 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 2015, the District conducted a feasibility study evaluating the benefits of an 
automated shuttle airport system versus a typical shuttle bus operation. The study 
indicated that there were significant benefits to the automated system in cost and 
customer service levels. In 2016, the District solicited proposals for an automated shuttle 
system project that would have initially connected the P2 economy lot to the terminal 
and 2getthere was selected as the preferred system provider. In 2019, the Plenary 
Group (“Plenary”) partnered with 2getthere and Oceaneering to develop the capability to 
deliver the project under a P3 arrangement. 
 
In 2022, the Commission approved Staff engaging with Plenary under a Project 
Development Agreement to further design and cost the system. This has been a 16-
month process. In December 2023, Plenary delivered its final version of Milestone #3 of 
the project, which incorporated system capital cost, design assumptions, operational 
guidelines, O&M costs, a financial model, and other supporting documentation. In 
December 2023, Plenary also delivered some alternative “pilot” options versus 
undertaking the entire project as originally envisioned. 
 
If the entire project is implemented the system will connect P1, P2, P3 and the employee 
lot to the terminal. Option 1 will only connect P3 and the employee lot to the terminal. 
Option 2 will only connect P1 to the terminal. 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of Automated Shuttle Airport Project 
Page 2 

  

 
 
A full presentation of the project and options will be provided at the Commission 
meeting. 
 

ISSUES 
 
A decision needs to be made on whether the time is right to move this project forward in 
its entirety, in a phased approach, or not at all. 
 

Below is a quick summary of the project costs:  

 
 

Employee Lot

P3
P2

P1

Annual O&M CostCapital CostOption

$2.95 million$95.8 millionEntire Project

$1.75 million $39.5 millionOption 1

$1.99 million$50.2 millionOption 2



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of Automated Shuttle Airport Project 
Page 3 

  

Unique grant funding to help offset the capital cost has been sought, but we have not 
been successful to date in our efforts. 
 
Plenary has provided a turn-key approach to the project that would have them financing 
the project in total. In this case the District would make payments to Plenary for the 
debt component of the project and for the ongoing operations and maintenance cost of 
the system.  
 
Another option would be for the District to finance the project by including the capital 
requirement in its upcoming bond issue for Parking Garage C/CONRAC, with Plenary still 
providing an equity investment and operating and maintaining the system. 
 
At this juncture, there is not a recommendation to move the entire project forward due 
to the lack of available grant funding.   
 
However, it is recommended that Option 1 be implemented as it will provide immediate 
benefits and then a phased approach can be taken for the connections to P1 and P2.   
 
Benefits from implementing Option 1: 
 

➢ Better headway times for employees 
➢ Ability to create P3 as a premium economy lot with improved customer 

service 
➢ Reduced shuttle bus costs 
➢ Phases the cost of implementing the project 
➢ Provides an opportunity to pilot the system before full implementation 
➢ Establishes the District as a leader in this space 

 

ALTERNATIVES 
 
There are five (5) alternatives identified by Staff: 
 

1. Implement the entire project at $95.8 million 
2. Implement Option 1 at $39.5 million 
3. Implement Option 2 at $50.2 million 
4. Put the project on the shelf and continue to seek additional grant funding 

to implement one or more of the above options 
5. Abandon the project entirely 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of Automated Shuttle Airport Project 
Page 4 

  

 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The following is the general fiscal impact for the project:  
 

• For the recommended Option 1 the total capital cost is $39.5 million. 
 

• The amount can be funded is several ways, with Plenary having a $10 million 
equity investment, it leaves $29.5 million left to fund. 
 

• The $29.5 million could be entirely bonded as a part of our upcoming bond issue 
for Parking Garage C/CONRAC. 
 

• The District could fund an amount out of District Funds and the balance could be 
borrowed 
 

• The District could look to Plenary to finance the entire project. 
 
Additional details will be provided at the Commission meeting. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve Option 1 
of the Automated Shuttle Airport Project as presented above; (2) authorize Staff to 
finalize a Project Agreement with the Plenary Airports GSP, LLC (“Plenary”) for the 
development, operation and maintenance of an automated shuttle system at GSP; (3) 
approve funding the project through a combination of District cash, District financing, 
and equity/financing through Plenary in the amount of $40 million; and (4) authorize the 
President/CEO to execute all necessary documents. 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item A 
 
November 2023 - Traffic Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
For November 2023, passenger traffic was up 17.6% and load factors were down 3.4% 
at an average of 84.6% over November 2022. Below is a comparison of our passenger 
traffic numbers for CY2023 versus CY2022: 
 
 

 29.0%  8.9%

 11.5%  11.7%

 14.5%  17.0%
 20.8%

 22.2%  19.0%

 17.3%
 17.2%

 19.7%

 -

 20,000

 40,000

 60,000

 80,000

 100,000

 120,000

 140,000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

GSP Enplanements
CY23 Compared to CY22

CY22 CY23 % Change

(Estimated)



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item A 
November 2023 - Traffic Report 
Page 2 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
Below is a comparison of our actual passenger traffic numbers to the budget for 
FY2024:
 

 
 
Cargo traffic experienced an increase of 14.5% for November 2023 versus November 
2022. Our fuel volumes experienced an increase of 2.6% for November 2023 versus 
November 2022. 
 

A comparison of the North America Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 2023 to GSP’s 
Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 

 

118,393 

114,606 
113,169 

121,196 

114,674 

109,607 

 70,000

 80,000

 90,000

 100,000

 110,000

 120,000

 130,000

July August September October November December January February March April May June

Enplanement Performance to Budget Targets by Month
Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Budget Actual

(Estimated)

Month GSP

National 

Average Difference

Jan 27.60% 33.39% -5.79%

Feb 10.10% 22.19% -12.09%

Mar 11.70% 12.96% -1.26%

April 11.70% 16.39% -4.69%

May 14.00% 9.86% 4.14%

June 17.90% 9.90% 8.00%

July 20.70% 10.40% 10.30%

August 21.70% 8.50% 13.20%

September 18.90% 8.10% 10.80%

October 17.30% 9.20% 8.10%

November 17.60% No Data to Date

December

Average 17.20% 10.34% 6.86%

Note: BTS statistics for total passengers (domestic and

international) utilized for national average.

2023



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item A 
November 2023 - Traffic Report 
Page 3 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for November 2023. 
 
Providing a look forward into service levels for February 2024 is a schedule comparison 
for the month versus the same month last year, including flights and seats by airline and 
non-stop markets served. Currently, in the schedules, GSP flights are up at 22.8%, and 
seats are up significantly at 15.5%. 
 

 
 

Attachments 

Schedule Monthly Summary Report for  Passenger (Air - All) flights from GSP for travel February 2024 vs. February 2023

 All flights, seats, and ASMs given are per month.

Mkt Al Dest Flights Seats Flights Seats Flights Seats Flights Seats

3M MCO 9 423 12 564 (3) (141) (25.0%) (25.0%)

3M TPA 9 423 12 564 (3) (141) (25.0%) (25.0%)

AA CLT 246 20,398 162 16,436 84 3,962 51.9% 24.1%

AA DCA 78 5,345 77 5,566 1 (221) 1.3% (4.0%)

AA DFW 83 9,984 56 9,632 27 352 48.2% 3.7%

AA LGA 54 4,104 0 0 54 4,104

AA MIA 29 2,204 28 2,128 1 76 3.6% 3.6%

AA ORD 29 2,138 28 1,820 1 318 3.6% 17.5%

AA PHL 52 3,744 30 2,228 22 1,516 73.3% 68.0%

DL ATL 184 24,797 168 22,370 16 2,427 9.5% 10.8%

DL DTW 21 1,470 22 1,672 (1) (202) (4.5%) (12.1%)

DL LGA 78 5,460 72 5,184 6 276 8.3% 5.3%

G4 FLL 8 1,416 8 1,416 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

G4 PIE 8 1,428 8 1,368 0 60 0.0% 4.4%

G4 SFB 9 1,557 8 1,332 1 225 12.5% 16.9%

UA DEN 29 2,030 28 2,122 1 (92) 3.6% (4.3%)

UA EWR 84 5,976 56 3,968 28 2,008 50.0% 50.6%

UA IAH 29 3,654 28 2,128 1 1,526 3.6% 71.7%

UA ORD 58 5,296 84 5,736 (26) (440) (31.0%) (7.7%)

WN ATL 58 8,678 56 9,672 2 (994) 3.6% (10.3%)

WN BWI 29 4,531 28 4,900 1 (369) 3.6% (7.5%)

WN HOU 8 1,272 4 700 4 572 100.0% 81.7%

XP HVN 5 945 0 0 5 945

TOTAL 1,197 117,273 975 101,506 222 15,767 22.8% 15.5%

Travel Period Feb 2024 Feb 2023 Diff Percent Diff



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	1	of	12

Monthly	Traffic	Report
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
November	2023

Category Nov	2023 Nov	2022
Percentage
Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022

Percentage
Change

*MOV12-
2023

*MOV12-
2022

Percentage
Change

Passenger	Traffic
								Enplaned 114,674 97,809 17.2% 1,181,465 1,009,196 17.1% 1,273,038 1,101,985 15.5%
								Deplaned 113,990 96,617 18.0% 1,170,302 999,989 17.0% 1,257,428 1,088,166 15.6%
Total 228,664 194,426 17.6% 2,351,767 2,009,185 17.1% 2,530,466 2,190,151 15.5%
	

Cargo	Traffic	(Pounds)
				Express	and	Mail
								Enplaned 698,083 689,953 1.2% 7,738,070 8,378,613 -7.6% 8,570,030 9,249,949 -7.4%
								Deplaned 954,589 1,052,805 -9.3% 10,718,997 11,819,661 -9.3% 11,901,990 13,150,952 -9.5%
								Subtotal 1,652,672 1,742,758 -5.2% 18,457,067 20,198,274 -8.6% 20,472,020 22,400,901 -8.6%
	
				Freight
								Enplaned 4,752,197 2,736,718 73.6% 39,675,652 42,175,123 -5.9% 42,498,023 46,263,935 -8.1%
								Deplaned 8,869,625 8,860,896 0.1% 83,438,820 93,537,226 -10.8% 91,829,067 102,854,766 -10.7%
								Subtotal 13,621,822 11,597,614 17.5% 123,114,472 135,712,349 -9.3% 134,327,090 149,118,701 -9.9%
	
Total 15,274,494 13,340,372 14.5% 141,571,539 155,910,623 -9.2% 154,799,110 171,519,602 -9.7%
	
	
	

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	2	of	12

Category Nov	2023 Nov	2022
Percentage
Change

*CYTD-
2023

*CYTD-
2022

Percentage
Change

*MOV12-
2023

*MOV12-
2022

Percentage
Change

Aircraft	Operations
								Airlines 2,667 2,135 24.9% 27,207 25,289 7.6% 29,368 27,648 6.2%
								Commuter/Air	Taxi 469 679 -30.9% 5,347 6,865 -22.1% 5,889 7,644 -23.0%
								Subtotal 3,136 2,814 11.4% 32,554 32,154 1.2% 35,257 35,292 -0.1%
	
								General	Av. 1,329 1,106 20.2% 14,013 12,798 9.5% 15,011 13,780 8.9%
								Military 250 311 -19.6% 2,825 2,408 17.3% 2,971 2,639 12.6%
								Subtotal 1,579 1,417 11.4% 16,838 15,206 10.7% 17,982 16,419 9.5%
Total 4,715 4,231 11.4% 49,392 47,360 4.3% 53,239 51,711 3.0%
	

Fuel	Gallons
				General	Aviation
								100LL 2,395 2,388 0.3% 29,653 26,910 10.2% 31,521 29,048 8.5%
								Jet	A 151,159 180,132 -16.1% 1,780,191 1,807,805 -1.5% 1,933,420 1,949,273 -0.8%
								Subtotal 153,554 182,520 -15.9% 1,809,844 1,834,715 -1.4% 1,964,941 1,978,321 -0.7%
	
				Commercial	Aviation
								Jet	A 1,845,902 1,766,469 4.5% 19,862,647 20,006,510 -0.7% 21,602,506 21,811,314 -1.0%
	
Total 1,999,456 1,948,989 2.6% 21,672,491 21,841,225 -0.8% 23,567,447 23,789,635 -0.9%
	
	

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	3	of	12

Scheduled	Airline	Enplanements,	Seats,	and	Load	Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
November	2023

	 Nov	2023 Nov	2022
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022
Percentage

Change

Allegiant	Air
	 Enplanements 3,415 3,127 9.2% 38,333 36,421 5.2%
	 Seats 4,050 3,924 3.2% 45,315 43,410 4.4%
	 Load	Factor 84.3% 79.7% 5.8% 84.6% 83.9% 0.8%
	

American	Airlines
	 Enplanements 41,780 35,438 17.9% 425,509 351,633 21.0%
	 Seats 49,810 40,812 22.0% 531,407 419,254 26.8%
	 Load	Factor 83.9% 86.8% -3.4% 80.1% 83.9% -4.5%
	

Avelo
	 Enplanements 1,014 0 - 14,432 0 -
	 Seats 1,176 0 - 18,774 0 -
	 Load	Factor 86.2% - - 76.9% - -
	

Delta	Air	Lines
	 Enplanements 34,935 32,515 7.4% 368,924 343,437 7.4%
	 Seats 40,190 36,216 11.0% 413,896 400,593 3.3%
	 Load	Factor 86.9% 89.8% -3.2% 89.1% 85.7% 4.0%
	



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	4	of	12

Silver	Airways
	 Enplanements 874 540 61.9% 9,909 5,951 66.5%
	 Seats 1,312 828 58.5% 12,720 7,696 65.3%
	 Load	Factor 66.6% 65.2% 2.1% 77.9% 77.3% 0.7%
	

Southwest	Airlines
	 Enplanements 14,520 12,464 16.5% 130,987 118,013 11.0%
	 Seats 18,444 15,170 21.6% 184,739 176,618 4.6%
	 Load	Factor 78.7% 82.2% -4.2% 70.9% 66.8% 6.1%
	

United	Airlines
	 Enplanements 17,460 12,627 38.3% 187,936 144,368 30.2%
	 Seats 19,703 13,370 47.4% 220,186 165,650 32.9%
	 Load	Factor 88.6% 94.4% -6.2% 85.4% 87.2% -2.1%
	

	 Nov	2023 Nov	2022
Percentage

Change *CYTD-2023 *CYTD-2022
Percentage

Change

Totals
	 Enplanements 113,998 96,711 17.9% 1,176,030 999,823 17.6%
	 Seats 134,685 110,320 22.1% 1,427,037 1,213,221 17.6%



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	5	of	12

	 Load	Factor 84.6% 87.7% -3.4% 82.4% 82.4% -0.0%
	

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.

Totals
	 Enplanements 113,998 96,711 17.9% 1,176,030 999,823 17.6%
	 Seats 134,685 110,320 22.1% 1,427,037 1,213,221 17.6%

	 Load	Factor 84.6% 87.7% -3.4% 82.4% 82.4% -0.0%
	

*CYTD	=	Calendar	Year	to	Date	and	*Mov12	=	Moving	Twelve	Months.



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	6	of	12

Monthly	Enplanements	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	November	2023



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	7	of	12

Monthly	Seats	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	November	2023



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	8	of	12

Monthly	Load	Factors	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	November	2023



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	9	of	12

Total	Monthly	Passengers	By	Year
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	January	2021	Through	November	2023



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	10	of	12

Scheduled	Airline	Market	Shares	(Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
Report	Period	From	November	2023	Through	November	2023



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	11	of	12

Airline	Flight	Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg	International	Airport
November	2023

Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations	Due	To Total

Cancellations
Completed
Flights	(%)Field Mechanical Weather Other

Air	Atlanta	Icelandic 22 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Allegiant	Air 23 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Allegiant	Charter 2 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
American	Airlines 588 0 0 0 0 0 101.0%
Amerijet	Intl 12 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
ASL	Airlines	Belgium 4 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Avelo 8 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Berry	Aviation 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Delta	Air	Lines 327 0 0 0 0 0 100.3%
Delta	Air	Lines	Charter 3 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Federal	Express 38 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
McNeely	Charter	Service 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Mountain	Air	Car 18 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Priority	Air	Cargo 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Royal	Air	Freight 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Silver	Airways 28 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
SkyTaxi 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Southwest	Airlines 116 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
Sun	Country	Airlines 4 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
United	Airlines 238 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%
UPS 34 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%



Thursday,	December	21,	2023 Page	12	of	12

USA	Jet 1 0 0 0 0 0 100.0%

Airline
Scheduled

Flights
Cancellations	Due	To Total

Cancellations
Completed
Flights	(%)Field Mechanical Weather Other

Total 1,471 0 0 0 0 0 100.5%



 
_      ____________________________________________________________ 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Thomas Brooks, VP, Chief Financial Officer 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
_      ____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item B 
 
November 2023 – Monthly Financial Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for November 2023. 
 
Operating Revenue was up by 11.1% when compared to the budget for November 2023. 
Operating Expense was down by 6.1% when compared to the budgeted amount for the 
same period. Net operating income was up by 61.1% when compared to the November 
2023 budget. For the period ending November 2023, which represents five (5) months 
of the fiscal year, a total of $10,699,710 has been returned to the bottom line in 
operating income. 
 
Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents five 
months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 
 
 
 























 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: January 22, 2024 
____________________________________________________________ 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item C 
 
December 2023 – Development/Project Status Report  
 
SUMMARY 
 
2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project: 
 
Status – Revising Renovation Scope 
Project Budget – $1,675,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes the renovation of the hangar located at 2102 GSP Drive adjacent 
to the FBO Terminal. Planned renovation scope includes interior finishes, restroom 
improvements, exterior paint, door hardware and integration to the GSP campus access 
control and CCTV systems. The original project budget was reduced by $2,000,000 at 
the November 23, 2020, Commission meeting. Staff has engaged an engineer and 
contractor to scope and construct the project within the approved Project Budget.   
 
General Aviation Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project: 
 
Status – Road and Utilities in Close Out; Apron in Close Out 
Project Budget - $4,700,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Infrastructure Substantially Complete; Apron Paving 
Substantially Complete 
 
The GA Hangar Site 1 Infrastructure Project includes certain infrastructure necessary for 
the development of the new hangar sites. Work includes taxilane, apron, road, utilities, 
and other related site work. WK Dickson is the engineer of record for this project. The 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
January 22, 2024 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 2 

 

utility, roadway and retaining wall work for the project was competed amongst the IDIQ 
contractor pool and Mavin Construction was selected for this work.  
 
Work is complete and project is being closed. 
 
Campus Signage Replacement Program - Phase II: 
 
Status – Close Out Phase (campus signage); Design Phase (entry signage) 
Project Budget - $950,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Campus Wayfinding Signage is Complete; I-85 Entry 
Signage - Spring 2024 
 
This project included the completion of the remaining campus signage and wayfinding. 
The project also includes the design and construction of an entry monument sign on 
Aviation Parkway based on the Signage Masterplan. McMillan Pazdan Smith is assisting 
with final construction documents for the I-85 entry monument sign and Mavin 
Construction is leading the construction of the sign. The campus directional and 
wayfinding signage is complete. Final shop drawings are being finalized for the new I-
85 Gateway Entry sign.  The new I-85 entry sign is expected to be completed next 
spring. 
 
Terminal Roadway Improvements Program (TRIP): 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget - $18,600,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 
 
TRIP includes the design and construction of the initial roadway improvements in the 
Terminal Complex per the Airport Masterplan and Terminal Planning Study. Components 
include front curb reconfiguration to 4 inside lanes and 2 outside lanes, traffic 
circulation improvements on GSP Drive and Terminal Parkway with terminal curb front 
traffic ultimately routed to the north of the future Garage C site and 2 new roundabouts 
on GSP Drive for improved traffic flow per the GSP Master Plan. Kimley Horn is the 
designer / engineer of record for the project. Turner is the construction manager for 
this project. Sub-phases 1A and 1B are complete.  Sub-phase 1c is being completed.  
Turner is constructing phase 2 of the project which includes the lanes immediately in 
front of the terminal.  Phase 2 expected to be completed in April, 2024. 
  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
January 22, 2024 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 3 

 

FBO Expansion Project: 
 
Status – Procurement Phase 
Project Budget – $14,300,000 (Procurement Phase) 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
Design is complete and was led by McMillan Pazdan Smith. Project budget was adjusted 
in the FY24 capital budget. The RFQ/RFP process is currently underway for CMR 
selection. Construction is expected to start in early 2024. 
 
Cargo Ramp Phase 2: 
 
Status – Close Out Phase 
Project Budget – $16,500,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Substantially Complete 
 
This project includes construction of the Phase 2 Cargo Apron at the Center Cargo 
Facility. The new apron will double the cargo apron capacity at Cerulean to 
accommodate up to 6 wide body freighters on the ramp. WK Dickson is the prime 
engineer for the project. The project is partially funded with an EDA grant. The 
construction budget was amended based on bids at the January 2023 Commission 
meeting. Webber, LLC is the contractor for the project.  
 
Work is complete and project is being closed. 
 
Runway Guard Lights (RGL) Modification Project: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget – $1,400,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 
 
This project involves installing new electrical cabling and separating an existing circuit 
for the runway guard lights (RGL). Kimley-Horn is leading the engineering effort. The 
project was bid, and a contract was awarded to Southeast Site Services. The project will 
start mid-February 2024 and is expected to take approximately 90 days.  
 
  



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
January 22, 2024 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 4 

 

Parking Garage C & CONRAC Facility: 
 
Status – GMP / Procurement Phase 
Project Budget – $114,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Summer 2026 
 
This project includes the design and construction of a new combined public parking and 
rental car ready/return garage. The design was led by LS3P. LCK is providing program 
management and support services for the project. Brasfield & Gorrie (B&G) has been 
selected as the Construction Manager for the project. B&G is finalizing the guaranteed 
maximum price.  The full program cost is being finalized and will be submitted to the 
Commission at the January 22, 2024 Commission meeting. Construction start is 
expected to start by March 2024 and be completed by Summer 2026. 
 
Facilities Department Building Expansion Project (Design Phase): 
 
Status – Design Phase 
Project Budget – $500,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2024 
 
Planning for the Facilities Department Building Expansion Project was completed in 
FY20, but the Phase 1 Project was put on hold due to COVID-19. This initial project is of 
a master development plan for the Facilities Department and includes an expansion of 
the existing shop and storage building to provide 2 new large equipment maintenance 
bays, the addition of a new drive-in service bay door to the existing building, relocation 
of incinerator equipment and relocation / installation of a new triturator system. This 
project will provide much needed maintenance space for large equipment such as fuel 
trucks, fire equipment and other large vehicles as well as prepare the facility for the 
additional future expansion projects. Design is being led by on-call engineer WK 
Dickson and DP3 as their architectural partner. Design will be completed in spring 2024. 
Construction will be budgeted in the FY25 budget. 
 
Utility Improvements Project Phases 1 & 2: 
 
Status – Construction and Design Phases Underway 
Project Budget – $2,200,000 (FY23 and FY24 budgets combined) 
Estimated Completion Date – Summer 2024 
 
A Utility Master Plan was completed in FY22 outlining several improvement projects 
necessary to replace aging infrastructure on the GSP campus and prepare the airport 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
January 22, 2024 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 5 

 

for future expansion and development. The highest priority of the improvements include 
waterline upgrades from Hwy 14 through the Terminal Complex. Replacement of a 
section of the waterline along GSP Drive within the TRIP project limits is being 
addressed as part of that project while the road and adjacent area is already being 
impacted. Design is also underway for waterline improvements from CPW at Highway 
14 down GSP Drive. The 60% design milestone has been achieved.  
 
Once construction documents are complete, the project work will be bid, and work 
scheduled for spring 2024. 
 
Landscape Lighting Project: 
 
Status – Design Phase  
Project Budget – $350,000 
Estimated Completion Date –TBD 
 
This project includes improvements to the landscape lighting along Aviation Parkway to 
the Terminal Complex and Terminal Parkway to the P1 and P2 Economy Parking Lots. 
Design phase work is being led by WK Dickson with Seamon Whiteside as their 
landscape architecture sub consultant. Staff is currently reviewing recommendations for 
lighting. Construction will be planned for spring 2024 completion. 
 
GA Expansion Area Phase 2 Site Prep: 
 
Status – Design Phase  
Project Budget – $11,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Design Spring 2024; Construction TBD 
 
This project includes site prep and grading to prepare the development area planned 
for General Aviation Complex expansion. WK Dickson is leading the engineering effort 
and plans will be submitted for permitting later this fall. Permitting is expected to take 
several months and construction may be able to start in spring 2024 and carry into 
FY25.  
 
 
 
 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Tom Tyra, VP, Chief Marketing & Communications Officer 

DATE: January 22, 2024 
____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item D 

December 2023 – Communications Status Report 

SUMMARY 

News Stories ~ Broadcast, Print and Online 12/1/23 through 12/31/23:  

Top Stories for December 2023 
GSP enters the next phase of construction. 
GSP releases results of new economic impact study. 
Passengers traffic at GSP grew in 2023. 
Grant announced for rails development with a potential stop at GSP.  
American Airlines adds additional flights to DFW.  
Dave Edwards named on list of 50 most influential in South Carolina. 
Holiday travel at GSP.  
Maersk adds GSP to Cologne, Germany route.  

Click here for full report of December 2023 media mentions. 

Reach of GSP Media Coverage: 368,930,987 

Airport Digital and Social Media 12/1/23-12/31/23:  

Website 
Sessions – 88,893 

New Users –62.392 
Page Views –508,475 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
December 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 2 

Facebook  
Total followers –16,645 
New followers –95 
Page Views –6,275 
Reach —391,947 

Instagram 
Total Reach –2,363 
Total Impressions –6,079 
Followers –4,208 
New followers –73 

X (formerly known as Twitter) 
Impressions – 3,134 
Followers –6,798 
New followers – 3 
Mentions –15 

Top Performing Social Media Posts 

Top X (formerly known as Twitter) Post 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
December 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 3 

Top Instagram Post 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
December 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 4 

Top Facebook Post: 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
December 2023 - Communications Status Report 
Page 5 

  

 
Marketing Event Summary 
 
Greenville Swamp Rabbits Hockey 
Status – On-Going 
Communications Budget – $10,000 
Completion Date – 2023-2024 Hockey Season 
 
GSP will host promotions with the Greenville Swamp Rabbits during the 2023-24 season 
at the Bon Secours Wellness Arena. The sponsorship includes season-long exposure 
through signage, social media exposure and intermission promotions. 
 
Air Service Event Summary 
 
ACI Air Service Data Seminar  
Status – Planned 
Communications Budget - $2,000 
Completion Date – January 24, 2024 
 
GSP staff will speak at this industry conference on the topic of air cargo development. 
The seminar will be held in Austin, TX from January 22-January 24, 2024. 
 
Air Cargo 2024 
Status – Planned 
Communications Budget - $2,000 
Completion Date – February 13, 2024 
 
GSP staff will attend this industry trade show focusing on air cargo development.  The 
conference will be held in Louisville, KY from February 11-February 23, 2024. 
 
South Carolina Automotive Summit 
Status – Planned 
Communications Budget - $2,000 
Completion Date – February 15, 2024 
 
GSP staff will attend this industry trade show focusing on air cargo development.  The 
conference will be held in Greenville, SC from February 11-February 23, 2024. 
 
 



©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	1	of	10

https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441310
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441308
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441303
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441297
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441296
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1441295
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1423305
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/section/1423304
https://aircargoupdate.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/12f67ea8-79cd-4d6a-8509-700889486c5b?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/clip/6bcdb14b-aa95-4c79-8a24-d5f6b2133bd4/play


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	2	of	10

https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/clip/d7d1dc59-e36a-4a5d-90d8-28f564aa9b4c/play
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/clip/d4c39eb0-d340-44a3-880c-feb5e2db2d5e/play
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/clip/31fce912-3064-4380-92b7-c48f148d0308/play
https://www.wyff4.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52646457013&p=5fi&v=1&x=BUt9G1wu8xRMcAXn1K47Ug


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	3	of	10

https://www.wyff4.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52641235538&p=5fi&v=1&x=UOcIzitZxJcE-LZX4Vi-bw
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/f2412a20-330a-42f7-ace7-79df06c083cd?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	4	of	10

https://gsabusiness.com/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
https://gsabusiness.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/5da4d7f1-6abd-4abd-a3a8-1cf7fcd90f19?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	5	of	10

▪

https://www.wccbcharlotte.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52511960191&p=5fi&v=1&x=158rZQRIqUGGqlNSZfUtrQ
https://news.yahoo.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52561262738&p=5fi&v=1&x=V1zZCkrDr9El2TIFND6ibQ
https://www.foxcarolina.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52561706099&p=5fi&v=1&x=39hJ3abjRriiuN1lvTA9QQ
http://wspa.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/d9e78552-bb9d-470e-b6f0-5b9f3ae2a098?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	6	of	10

http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
https://www.goupstate.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52506767883&p=5fi&v=1&x=rRmgYsYC5QUWr8JlotV_xw
https://www.onespartanburginc.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52501693964&p=5fi&v=1&x=nI6kolGQUwKDbQrnV-sjwg


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	7	of	10

https://airport-world.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52500619449&p=5fi&v=1&x=ffoK_MhL2Kn1y5wS91fwZQ
https://www.aviationpros.com/
https://www.aviationpros.com/airports/press-release/53079719/greenville-spartanburg-international-airport-drives-economic-growth-supporting-nearly-20000-jobs-and-4-billion-in-local-output


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	8	of	10

https://www.goupstate.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52615911091&p=5fi&v=1&x=VnkVACAs1-HQb1O6K1diDQ
http://www.greenvilleonline.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/f575fe05-befd-4512-95b7-9b218a22aa94?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	9	of	10

http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
http://www.postandcourier.com/
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#/clip/share/aeb3f61d-1ecd-4e0a-9d9f-3af16e3719eb?fullText=true&width=900
http://www.lexisnexis.com/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/general/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/privacy/
http://www.lexisnexis.com/terms/copyright.aspx
https://www.wspa.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52502027979&p=5fi&v=1&x=gbEihDRKjTYZ9QQGBlsb4g
https://app.criticalmention.com/app/#report/3271cf41-9817-4273-85ea-221ac830fc12/clip/01018bf9-a477-43dc-bb83-8505dede8019/play


©	2024	Critical	MentionPage	10	of	10

https://www.wyff4.com/
http://ct.moreover.com/?a=52509064455&p=5fi&v=1&x=6oR9Cjv4kC4oW6Tca5xonA
https://www.criticalmention.com/


2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Deven Judd, VP, Chief Commercial Officer 

DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item E 

December 2023 – Commercial Business Report 

SB Acquisitions – Tract A Development Site: 

Status – BMW has informed us that they have received funding to complete the list of 
projects identified on the punch list inspection. Through meetings and inspections, Staff 
has verified that BMW has begun working and is making progress. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by SB Acquisitions. 
Estimated Completion Date – BMW Project Managers estimate they will be complete 
with the punch list items in the first quarter of 2024. 

BMW is actively working on the final construction punch list items identified in the joint 
inspection/walkthrough of the facilities. Several of those items include providing as-built 
drawings of the facility, correcting the grading to ensure proper water runoff for the 
property and correcting the orientation of the light poles. 

Palmetto Sites Program: 

Status – OnPoint Abstractors, LLC has completed the title work for Tract A with all 
properties coming back with clear titles. Thomas & Hutton has completed a survey of 
Tract A. 
Project Budget – $100,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Tract A Certified as a Palmetto Site first quarter of 
2024. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
December 2023 – Commercial Business Report 
Page 2 

The SC Department of Commerce has an industrial site readiness program entitled the 
Palmetto Sites Program to designate property in the state of South Carolina that has 
been determined to be “checked for readiness” from a development perspective.  This 
helps market the property by having it listed in a statewide database and providing 
developers with a sense of comfort in knowing that the initial site evaluation work has 
already been completed.   

Land Development Design Standards Manual Project: 

Status – Staff has provided comments back to McFarland Johnson.  The next draft is 
due this January with completion of the Design Standards Manual in March 2024. 
Project Budget – $125,000 
Estimated Completion Date – First quarter of 2024. 

The Airport District has 2,500 acres of land identified for development.  The design 
standards manual will provide a guide for Staff to share with developers to use as they 
plan and develop design and planning documents for future development sites on 
Airport District property.  In addition, it will address tenant improvement projects once 
facilities are completed. 

FedEx Cargo Facility Agreement: 

Status –The agreement is with Fedex for signature. Upon signature, the District will 
complete the execution of the contract. Rent is being charged at the new rates beginning 
January 1, 2024. 
Project Budget – $2,001,250 in various building improvements/renovations to be 
performed by the District. 
Estimated Completion Date – Execution of the Lease is 4th Quarter 2023; 
Completion of District improvements in 2024. 

Pursuant to District policy, this lease will be a triple-net lease. 

Re-Brand Thomas Creek Restaurant to Greenville Triumph Soccer Club 
Theme: 

Status – The Greenville Triumph has completed the design for the signage.  District 
staff will be replacing the soffit where the Thomas Creek sign was.  
Project Budget – Costs for design and installation of the sign and décor to be 
incurred by the Greenville Triumph Soccer Club. The District will be responsible for 
taking down the Thomas Creek signage and repairing the soffit. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
December 2023 – Commercial Business Report 
Page 3 

Estimated Completion Date – First Quarter of 2024 

Branding airport restaurants with local themes creates a uniqueness to the concession 
program as well as a sense of pride in the community that reflects positively on the 
airport. For out-of-market travelers, branded restaurants provide a sense of place and 
create cross marketing opportunities for both the District and the Greenville Triumph. 
The restaurant will continue to serve Thomas Creek beer and drinks.  

Children’s Play Area: 

Status – Plus-Plus submitted renderings of the new space for District Comments. Plus-
Plus’s investment is estimated to be approximately $50k. The District has committed to 
installing carpet and other aesthetic features. 
Project Budget – $15,000 
Estimated Completion Date – First Half of 2024 

There are a number of airports in the U.S. with children play areas and even more with 
entertainment options for young travelers. Airports with play areas tend to rank higher 
in customer service rankings because they are perceived to offer activities to help 
children stay engaged and occupied while traveling.  Additionally, this will give children 
and families the opportunity to create lifelong memories traveling through GSP. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Kelly G. Dawsey, VP, Chief Human Resources Officer 

DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item F 

December 2023 – OSHA Recordable Injury Report 

SUMMARY 

Monthly Activity December 31, 2023 

• 0 OSHA Recordable Injuries

2023 Calendar Year-to-Date 

• 5 OSHA Recordable Injuries

2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Recordable Submissions: 

Calendar 
Year 

Annual 
Average # 
Employees 

Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 
Injuries 

# OSHA 
Recordable 

Work-
Related 

Illnesses 

# Days 
away 
from 
Work 

2023 236 467,747 5 1 142 

2022 213 382,757 9 1 46 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members of the Airport Commission 

FROM: Zach Salvato, VP, Chief Information Officer 

DATE: January 22, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________ 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item G 

December 2023 – Information Technology Status Report 

SUMMARY 

IT Master Plan 

Status – Task 4 Gap Analysis  
Project Budget - $160,000  
Estimated Completion Date – March 2024 

The overall objective of this project is to develop and articulate a strategic plan around 
emerging technology that is specific to the airport industry and enhances the curb-to-
gate passenger experience.  

No significant status updates on this project for the month of December. 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
December 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 2 

Core Switch Infrastructure 

Status – Reviewing RFP Submissions  
Project Budget - $1,000,000  
Estimated Completion Date – May 2024 

The overall objective for a core switch replacement is to enhance the performance, 
reliability, scalability, and security of the datacenter network infrastructure while 
minimizing disruptions to ongoing operations. This process involves replacing existing 
core datacenter switches with newer and more advanced equipment. Here is a 
comprehensive overview of the key objectives: 



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
December 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 3 

• Improved Performance: Upgrade the core datacenter switches to provide
higher throughput, reduced latency, and increased bandwidth to meet the
growing demands of applications and services hosted within the datacenter.

• Enhanced Reliability and Redundancy: Ensure the new switches are
highly reliable and include built-in redundancy mechanisms to minimize
downtime due to hardware failures. Implement technologies such as Rapid
Spanning Tree Protocol (RSTP), Link Aggregation (LAG), and Virtual Port
Channel (VPC) for redundancy.  New switches must be installed in
geographically separated locations on campus.

• Scalability: Switch hardware and software must accommodate future
growth and expansion of the datacenter network. This includes support for
additional ports, virtual LANs (VLANs), and routing capabilities.

• Security: Implement advanced security features such as Access Control
Lists (ACLs), and Network Access Control (NAC) to protect the datacenter
from unauthorized access and cyber threats.

• Simplified Network Management: Provide a centralized and user-friendly
management interface for ease of configuration, monitoring, software
updates, and troubleshooting. This can include using Software-Defined
Networking (SDN) solutions.

• Energy Efficiency: Consider energy-efficient switches that comply with
environmental standards and reduce power consumption in the datacenter,
leading to cost savings and a reduced carbon footprint.

• Compatibility and Interoperability: Ensure that the new core switches
are compatible with the existing network infrastructure, including servers,
storage, and access switches. Verify interoperability with other datacenter
components, hardware, and applications.

• Eliminate Downtime: Plan the replacement carefully to eliminate service
disruptions. This may involve implementing a phased migration strategy,
conducting the replacement during off-peak hours, or leveraging redundant
components during the transition.

• Data Migration: Safely migrate existing data and configurations from the
old switches to the new ones, ensuring data integrity and minimal downtime.

• Documentation and Training: Document the new network architecture,
configurations, and procedures. Provide training for IT staff to effectively
manage and maintain the new core switches.

• Testing and Validation: Rigorously test the new core switches and
configurations before deployment to ensure they meet performance and
security requirements.



2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 
www.gspairport.com 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item G 
December 2023 - IT Status Report 
Page 4 

• Compliance: Ensure that the new switches comply with relevant industry
standards and regulations, in order to protect sensitive or regulated data.

• Monitoring and Performance Tuning: Implement continuous monitoring
and performance tuning to optimize the core datacenter switch infrastructure
over time.

• Cost Management: Analyze the total cost of ownership (TCO) of the new
switches, considering both upfront costs and ongoing operational expenses.

• Futureproofing: Switches must have a clear upgrade path and a long
lifecycle to protect investment and reduce the frequency of replacements.


	Cover Letter - January 2024
	Agenda 20240122
	Consent Agenda Item A - GSP Commission Meeting Minutes - Nov. 13, 2023
	NB Item A - Approval of the Final Rankings-On-Call Prof GEO SVY Services 
	NB Item B - Budget Amendment for PBBs 
	NB Item C - Approval of the PGC Project Funding 
	NB Item D - Approval of ASAP 
	Info Section A - November 2023 - Traffic Report BINDER 
	Info Section A - November 2023 - Traffic Report Memo 
	Info Section A - November 2023 - Traffic Report

	Info Section B - November 2023 - Financial Report BINDER 
	Info Section B - November 2023 - Financial Report Memo 
	Info Section B - November Financial Statement Package

	Info Section C - December 2023 - Development Project Report
	Info Section D - December  2023 - Communications Report
	Info Section D - December 2023 - Communications Media Mentions 
	Info Section E - December 2023 - Commercial Business Report
	Info Section F - December 2023 - OSHA Recordable Injury Report 
	Info Section G - December 2023 - IT Status Report 

